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PROLOGUE Alecto [image: ]


The Immortal Realm of Cosmos—The Road to Farewell

ALECTO HAD NEVER BEEN one for words. Her emotions tended toward physical displays to make themselves known. As such, she had nothing to offer the competitive tradition of inventing names for the mountain that kept the Starpool.

Alecto had never been one for words, and even less so now—now that her heart lay in shattered pieces at the bottom of her soul. But poetic tongues called the mountain many things in attempt to do what she could not: to define that indescribable mixture of despair and peace evoked by the mere sight of Sorrow Spire…

End of Worlds…

The Hail and Farewell.

Does it eat at you, Alecto?

The guilt of what you’ve done?

You are—and have always been—a monster.

“Alecto—I asked you what you’re doing.”

Alecto dropped her eyes to her hands.

She wasn’t supposed to be here off duty, up in the Realm of Cosmos that was home to more “wholesome” things than Furies. She wasn’t supposed to be doing any of this at all. Tisiphone’s death had been self-Destruction, chosen and acted upon without the Divine Council’s blessing. It was weakness in their eyes, and in the eyes of the people—weakness and abhorrent disgrace, and none who “sullied” immortal dignity in such a way as her sister had done were permitted funerary honors.

Does it eat at you, sister?

But immortal dignity could go fuck itself.

Does it bother you at all?

So too could honor, and the Divine Council, and Megaera hissing like an angry goose behind her.

It should, Alecto.

This is all your fault—only you can make it right.

Make it right—that one refrain was a constant on Alecto’s mind.

That refrain called to her, taunted her, drove her on in a voice that mocked Tisiphone’s. The rational part of her knew this voice was in her head, knew her sister hadn’t thought these things, would never have said these things, certainly wasn’t saying them now. The rational part of her knew that the glimpses she could swear she caught of her sister in the corners of her vision weren’t real. Tisiphone’s stark face wasn’t actually watching her, wasn’t waiting for Alecto to make it right….

“Alecto! I am speaking to you.”

A hand gripped her shoulder.

Alecto hated when people touched her without her permission. But she spun regardless to meet her sister’s icy anger.

What was she doing, Megaera wanted to know. It was plainly obvious. Here on the pale gold cobblestone that composed the Road to Farewell—the street that cut directly through the Cosmic Realm’s central district of magnificent, ornate temples and wound its way to the seven hundred thousand steps that led up to the Starpool’s summit—there was no mistaking Alecto’s intentions. Not dressed as she was in simple white robes, her long hair shorn short, a milk-white candle clasped between her noticeably trembling hands….

The Divine Council thought they could forbid her from giving Tisiphone the funeral she deserved? Ridiculous—she couldn’t care at all about the opinion of others, and she’d done this numerous times before, for people who mattered less than a fraction of what Tisiphone meant to her.

When immortals decided their time was over, that their lives and goals were sufficiently fulfilled, they could apply for Destruction. If granted, their funerals became celebrations, and all considered family and friend were invited to gather on the Road to Farewell to walk with them to their valiant ends.

The motions were all so familiar.

Tisiphone meant everything to Alecto.

And none of the scandalized glances and glares from the early-morning temple-goers who stopped to whisper and gawk at her mattered a damn—so why did Alecto tremble?

Shoulder still in hand, Megaera gave her a rough shake, as though she could dispel Alecto’s foolishness by force. “You will cut this out immediately and return with me home. I understand you’re grieving, Sister. We all grieve for this tragic loss. But what you’re doing right now is wholly obscene—”

Obscene?

She was being obscene for wanting to mark her sister’s passing with a funeral?

“Pull yourself together, Alecto. Remember yourself; you’re an Erinys—”

Pull yourself together, Tisiphone! Remember yourself; you’re an Erinys!

We need you out there; I need you out there. Not shut away in your room moping.

Keep it up, and they’re going to strip you of your position. I heard them talking—keep it up, Siph, and you really will be the pathetic thing they’re all out there calling you—

Alecto flinched to hear the same words she’d hurled at Tisiphone thrown back in her face.

Make it right!

Squeezing her eyes shut, she tried to block the memory of Tisiphone standing on the Starpool’s ledge, water-gray eyes full of hopeless misery as they peered at Alecto through the mess of her coral-red hair….

You monster.

Of the horrible, awful, monstrous way Alecto had treated her sister the night before that shattering moment; the mounting frustration with herself for being unable to fix what had crushed the last of Tisiphone’s hope; the suffocating fear that she would watch Tisiphone waste away in that deities-damned bedroom, unable to do anything about that, too, just like she’d been powerless to stop the Divine Council from ordering Tisiphone replaced in the role she’d worked so hard to earn.

All over a mortal boy who’d broken her heart—as though a broken heart were some trivial injury so easily recovered from, Alecto had foolishly let herself believe….

She recently discovered how devastating a broken heart truly was.

Smack.

Startled, Alecto opened her eyes.

“I’m speaking to you—you will listen.”

She stared down at her stinging fingers, where Megaera had just slapped her.

The crowd that had gathered to watch Alecto’s humiliation gasped in delight. Immortalkind so loved dramatics, and what better than the chastisement of this miserable display of sorrow? Her people, who went to such lengths to conceal things like grief, believing it was something to be weathered only in private. Her people, who looked at her right now like she was an embarrassment to all they stood for.

And Alecto didn’t care.

Not about that.

She did care, though, that the candle she’d been holding now lay swatted from her clasp, extinguished and broken in two on the road’s stone.

Something about the sight of it… the fragile wax body in fractured pieces under the callous cruelty of someone who’d once claimed to love her—damn it; damn it, she’d said such awful, ruthless things to Tisiphone, had treated her just like Megaera had this candle, and now Tisiphone was gone.

All because of her.

Now Alecto’s lips trembled as well.

Her eyes welled up with watery heat….

She bent down and tried to recover the remains of her candle. Her shaking hands dropped the pieces several times, and Megaera… instead of helping, lifted a merciless heel—

“No! Please don’t—” she cried out in anguish.

But the plea fell on unhearing ears.

That heel came down and ground one of the errant halves of wax into the unyielding road.

No.

Why couldn’t Megaera let her have this—just this? That candle was an important part of the ceremony; she needed it, couldn’t complete the funeral without it. White robes, clipped hair, lit candle, song—these were the elements that defined this tradition, and Tisiphone deserved every one of them.

“Go home, Alecto,” Megaera ordered, her steel eyes flashing. “Before you disgrace us even furth—urgh.”

Something had happened.

Alecto couldn’t really see.

Her eyes were hot, her face was wet, and her hands refused to stop trembling. Megaera’s shadow shrank aside to make way for another, and all Alecto could focus on in the moment was the candle.

Snow white, freshly molded—not her pulverized candle, but a new one, held out before her face and pinched between two very long, very adamantine claw-tipped fingers….

Alecto’s sight traveled past the pristine wax.

It took in the long body and crooked limbs crouched before her… the gunmetal-black hair… poison for eyes…. How was, why was, what was…

“Lethe?”

Lethe rolled those too-green eyes as though it should be very obvious why he’d come to her rescue.

Like they’d ever been close.

Like he’d ever been nice to her or once displayed that he even knew what compassion was, let alone how to extend it to others. And yet he was here, doing… exactly that, by the looks of things, with his deities-damned candle.

The candle he proceeded next to shove into her hands.

Grabbing her much like Megaera had done, he hauled her back to her feet. She had just enough time between this and the next moment to note other things now, like the fact that Lethe was also dressed in white, which he’d never before adorned for any occasion or passing.

That there behind him was Vesper pushing xis way through the parting crowd, hastily righting xis own white robes xe’d clearly thrown on in a hurry.

Yue behind xim, in white that draped flawlessly as porcelain around his slender form.

Eris, behind Yue, in white that fit with militaristic precision.

The Wild Hunt… they’d come to join Tisiphone’s Procession.

Alecto felt like crying anew.

“Sorry we’re late,” Vesper apologized gently, as though xe’d been expected. Reaching into xis pocket, xe fished out a candle of xis own and handed two more back to Yue and Eris. Then they all settled into place behind Alecto, her steadfast friends—her family… the only ones left who mattered.

Darling of Immortal Society, the greatest Flame to ever burn.

How wonderful it must be to be loved…

As you always insisted you loved me.

But if that were true, you wouldn’t have killed me.

If that were true, you’d make this right—

“You think this pathetic funeral is going to change anything, Alecto? You think this makes what Tisiphone did any better?”

Megaera stood livid. Black-ice hair and steel-gray eyes—everything about her glinted threat. She wasn’t afraid of the Wild Hunt as most everyone else here was, but even she wouldn’t pit herself against Lethe. So there she stood, enraged but unable to act upon it, unable to interfere any further, though something inside Alecto had recovered enough to wish she would try. Because…

What Tisiphone did?

Better?

Alecto’s fury ignited in an instant.

She felt it flood through her, a scalding-hot wave that flushed the grief from her veins until all that was left was BetterBetterBetterBetter—you think this makes what Tisiphone did better?

As though their sister had been the one to do something wrong.

Before Alecto could say or do anything, Lethe spun her around to face the mountain they would make for in the looming distance, the Starpool into which they’d drop their lit candles to serve as “guidance” for Tisiphone’s soul—not that Destruction left anything of it to guide, but even immortals needed the scant few comforts they allowed themselves.

Better.

Make it right.

Alecto’s fingers stopped their shaking. Her tears began to subside. She was no good with words, but words weren’t needed at all for this thing welling up inside her that she would soon come to know as true, unfettered rage.

Make it right.

“Sing, goddess,” Lethe purred against her ear before drawing back to release her.

And Alecto would—the song she’d sing, the rage she’d scream… she’d make this better, make it right, the only way she could now. But for everyone who looked at what Tisiphone did as weakness, wrong, in need of forgiveness…

Megaera.

The Divine Council.

Their Goddess Mother…

For them, she’d make it so much worse.






CHAPTER 1 Celadon [image: ]


The Luminous Palace—Throne Room, Present Day

NUMB.

This was all Celadon could feel right now, standing in the throne room of the woman who’d only just hours ago violently murdered his family in front of him.

Between the sound of Arlo’s screams… the dull thud of his father dropping dead to the floor… the overwhelming scent of blood hanging thick in the ballroom…

This entire night would haunt him forever.

In the ballroom, he hadn’t wanted to look at the contorted, mangled corpses of people he’d known all his life—his family, the Verdant Guard, Lords Lekan and Morayo—now speared on iron tree roots, dangling overhead like broken marionettes. But the alternative, the sight that had absorbed the other half of the room right after the massacre… it wasn’t much better.

Because there, in the center of yet another damned array, lay a young ironborn servant, strangely silent and still, as Councillor Briar Sylvain—the vile traitor he turned out to be—cracked open the poor boy’s chest and tore out the stone that resided in the place of a heart.

The same Councillor Briar Sylvain who had tried to reject Arlo’s status as fae, despite the fact that he was apparently ironborn himself and highly skilled at the illegal alchemical magic that he’d claimed so vehemently to hate. Councillor Briar Sylvain, who’d been so happy to use that power he’d been Weighed as having no inheritance of, a proper sidhe fae according to what would have been wiped-clean records of his status after his coming of age, all at her behest.

Her—the woman who now, only hours after her brutal, bloody coup, sat perfectly poised on her throne, in a room of crystal and stained glass and vibrant yellow gemwork, of dazzling radiance, even though morning was still a few hours off.

Immaculate.

Brilliant.

Flawlessly composed…

And all around the room—deities help him—the whispers had already begun.

“Look at his hair…”

“… his eyes…”

“Do you think he was in on it?”

“Do you think he knew all along what she planned to do?”

Celadon wanted to curl in on himself. He wanted to run, to scream. To turn around and grab the gossiping bastards behind him and shake them until they remembered that he’d just lost most of his entire family tonight, damn it all—couldn’t they spare him a moment to grieve that without having to listen to their asinine thoughts on the matter? But…

“It’s unnatural; he shouldn’t exist.”

Numb.

“Do you see the way he glows with her radiance?”

Celadon couldn’t do anything but stand in place, eyes forward, so very numb down to his core. His russet hair now blazing Lysterne copper… one eye the vibrant, verdant jade of Spring, the other the freezing electric blue of Summer… Radiance in his skin, a brighter, purer light than the royal twilight glow of UnSeelie fae blood.

They were right—he shouldn’t exist….

He knew just as well as anyone that a union between Heads of Courts was strictly forbidden. The Seasons didn’t mix—wouldn’t mix. Forcing them together was said to result in such a catastrophic, unstable concoction of powers that if the child didn’t simply combust to ash at birth, their minds would undoubtedly warp with age, their bodies rebel with time, and the magic too great for flesh-and-bone confines would build and build until it broke free by any means possible—at the expense of everything around it.

He shouldn’t exist.

But here he stood, gathered along the wall with a handful of others who’d been summoned to witness their next High Sovereign’s Crowning, and Celadon felt like a stranger to himself—and to the rest of the world, because come sunrise, he was sure he’d be cast as the fallen idol who’d conspired with a murderous queen to steal his own father’s throne.

How long they let him live, if his own body didn’t betray him first, was entirely dependent on what that woman was able to defend him against.

Riadne Lysterne, Seelie Queen of Summer.

His mother.

Hells.

“Don’t listen to them, Your Highness,” said a voice under breath beside him, low-pitched but firm.

Theodore Reynolds—he looked awful right now, wrecked. They all did, the lot of them. Tired, haggard, terrified, speckled and stained with blood and dust and shards of glass. Last night seemed to have aged him by years: bags under his usually bright, warm brown eyes and a tightness to his expression. But beneath it all… a composure Celadon envied right now. As though somehow last night hadn’t been the worst he’d ever had to endure—and sure, it had been Celadon’s family who’d borne the brunt of Riadne’s wrath, but where the rest of the room stood in fear of her, Celadon was struck with the impression that Theodore was merely wary.

And what did that mean? Celadon wondered.

The prince had been fast by his side this entire time, but Celadon assumed that was out of guilt for the part he’d played in the night’s events by kidnapping Celadon, or perhaps an attempt to assuage whatever trouble he might be in with Riadne for failing to keep Celadon out of the ballroom during his family’s slaughter.

Numb.

Celadon wanted to be angry with Theodore too. If Theodore hadn’t drugged him under Riadne’s orders and pulled him from the ballroom at such a critical time—the price of securing his own family’s survival, which Celadon could understand—he might have been able to prevent what he’d lost in result, might have been able to talk Riadne down from her rage unleashed. He might have been able to save his family too, if it weren’t for the boy beside him.

Might-haves, could-haves, maybes—they plagued him, but all Celadon could feel right now was numb.

“Don’t give them an inch of space in your head, Celadon. They aren’t worth it.”

Celadon looked on, Theodore’s fervent advice flowing in one ear and very much out the other.

More than anything, Celadon wished Arlo were here, but he hadn’t seen her so far at all.

He looked on at his mother. At the boy beside her, seated on a lesser throne—exhausted too, pale, the picture of grimness, his electric-blue eyes puffy with recently shed tears and barely restrained fury.

Vehan Lysterne… his younger brother.

Numb, numb, numb, numb—

“The door—look!”

“They’re here!”

A creaking at the end of the room drew everyone’s attention to Celadon’s left. Carved ivory doors, two fully grown bull trolls in height, swung open, and at the sound, the room’s collective tension sharpened.

Riadne sat straighter in her golden seat.

The whispers stopped.

Breath cowered in the backs of throats.

Those who weren’t fastened in place by this moment’s monumentality shriveled up on themselves and shrank toward the walls, instinct driving them back from the source of centuries of cruelty and subjugation.

Celadon didn’t blame either reaction.

Were he capable of feeling any sort of emotion at all right now, he was sure he’d be similarly gripped by awe. It wasn’t every day, after all, that the gods were granted permission to descend from their immortal keep to visit the realm of mortals—certainly not one of the Western Great Three and, only under one specific occasion, all Three of them together.

This was that occasion.

“Blessed light!” exclaimed a breathy voice in the crowd behind Celadon.

Gasps broke out once more around the room as, one by one, its occupants realized their visitors had been toying with them and hadn’t entered through any door but were already in fact here.

The group Celadon stood with skittered back even farther, hands over their hearts and mouths, eyes wide in alarm and disbelief both. Only he and Theodore remained unflinching, through foolishness or bravery, Celadon couldn’t say, but what—or rather, who—had appeared at his immediate right utterly transfixed him.

“Cosmin,” he exclaimed in breathless astonishment, face growing warm for what he’d just blurted, because the man beside him…

Wavy, unbound hair, moonstone white in certain slants, black as inky night in others; eyes like the void of black holes. There, in robes of black rot and stark bone, cosmic dust and melting stars, stood Cosmin, Lord of Death and Night.

He was so tall that Celadon had to tilt his head to meet the god’s unnerving gaze, and the fact alone that Lord Cosmin was looking at him… acknowledging him—this god in particular, who was symbol of night and to whom UnSeelie Spring had paid their worship…

Celadon couldn’t explain it.

How quickly he went from numb to overwhelmed—had to blink his eyes against the sudden stinging rush of emotions, this small but oh-so-significant gesture showing Celadon that, no matter who his mother was, he was still considered a child of night.

Cosmin tilted his chin a fraction down at Celadon—a nod that didn’t go unnoticed by those around them, judging by the rustling of background movement. Then, as wordlessly as he’d appeared, he strode forward for Mother Tellis, who bloomed like a flower from a pool of greenery that had fountained to life at the room’s cleared center.

Mother Tellis was a beautiful, robust woman robed in clinging moss and live butterflies, with wings fluttering where they fixed themselves in place. She had earthen-brown hair and gray-stone eyes, a fox’s ears and tail. She never appeared exactly the same way twice, in neither dress nor form, Celadon remembered learning. But she was unmistakable no matter her presentation.

Spring sang inside Celadon to simply behold her…

And all at once, his emotions spilled over.

Unable to be contained any longer, his magic burst from him in an outpour of verdant foliage and blossoming flowers—life, the Gift of his Season that marked him as his Court’s successor.

A Gift that, until this very moment, Celadon had never displayed a hint of.

Another thing his father’s magic had worked so hard to conceal in him, it seemed, undoubtedly owing to the amount of attention the Courts had already fastened on him in his youth. But if he’d been a verified contender for the throne, their watch of him would have been much sharper.

And there they were again—the whispers.

Celadon couldn’t reel the Gift in, couldn’t stamp out the flowers quickly enough, just as the folk behind him could no longer contain their gossip.

“Radiance and Life both?”

“This doesn’t bode well, mark my words…”

“Wasn’t there Autumn in the High King’s blood? His mother, the late Queen Iris—wasn’t she born of an Autumn prince?”

“And Winter runs in Queen Riadne’s thanks to her late father….”

Celadon tried to block out the voices, but they were speaking into existence his own fears. What would they do if it turned out that Celadon had inherited a Gift from all four Seasons? What would they do if they genuinely started to believe he might use these powers against their Courts?

“Riadne Lysterne.”

Silence tightened its grip on the room with the arrival of the third and final of their Great guests.

They heard her before they saw her.

Light drew inward, gathering up in a ball behind Riadne’s throne. It spoke volumes about her character, Celadon supposed, that Riadne didn’t startle, didn’t gasp or shriek or any of the other displays of alarm that scorched through the room like a quick bolt of lightning.

No, Riadne sat as tall and poised as ever, with the barest curl at the edge of her mouth…. The queen wasn’t afraid, far from it. The look she wore was one of triumph and satisfaction.

Her goals achieved at long last.

Slowly, the ball of light behind her took shape, until out from the throne’s shadow—and dragging that only spot of darkness in the room like a cloak behind her—stepped Urielle, Lady of the Elements, of the Light that Seelie Summer worshipped, and so it would be up to Urielle to bestow Riadne’s blood-soaked Bone Crown.

In her own time, and no doubt aware that this entire room watched her as she walked, Urielle made her way down the throne’s dais to join her siblings. Undefinable—as though each of the goddess’s features was immediately erased from memory as soon as beheld—all Celadon could say about her was that she was easily the most formidable of all Three, a being of flame and water and air, of shadows and light and earth and stone, all of it twisting and teeming together. And she looked nothing like her daughter, Nausicaä, save the same self-assured, fiery countenance in which she conducted herself.

Once Urielle reached her siblings, she turned—in great leisure—back to the throne. No one had spoken this entire time, not even Riadne, though she’d been addressed. The two women occupied their respective spaces with firm command, and Celadon couldn’t help but wonder what each was thinking.

This ceremony was more or less for show, and Riadne’s actions were far from scandalous to these gods—Cosmin would likely deem them commendable. But power would always test itself against a foreign source, and Celadon wouldn’t go so far as to call them equals, but a goddess wouldn’t square herself against a mortal the way this one was doing if she truly thought they posed no danger.

And if even a goddess felt threatened by their new High Queen…

“Riadne Lysterne.” It was Mother Tellis who now spoke, regality ringing in her gentle tone.

The ceremony was underway.

Celadon felt ill.

“Your defeat of the UnSeelie Spring High King, Azurean LazuliViridian, has afforded you great opportunity,” Lord Cosmin continued where Tellis left off, his alto-pitched voice deathly calm and cool; Celadon was sure he wasn’t the only one to shiver at hearing it.

“Responsibility, too,” said Tellis.

Now it was Urielle’s turn to speak, and with all the severity of ice. “The choice is simple, and yours alone to make, as it was for all who came before you. The Crown you have won is yours for keeping—so, too, is it yours to return. Name any immortal you wish—bestow upon them the Crown’s heavy burden—and you will be free of this object that has been the center of much grief, harm, and bloodshed in your realm. Free to reimagine your mortal Courts in any shape you so desire, greater than what the distraction of power narrows one’s focus to create.”

She took a pause.

Her eyes flashed in what Celadon could read only as a dare.

Riadne said nothing, the room held fast to its breathless intensity, and Urielle continued on.

“Take, instead, the Crown for your own, and it will grant you status, control, and strength beyond your mortal ken. Yours will be as divinity, a power that even titans seek to possess, but this magic, this grandeur, dear queen… it comes at a price. A price you will pay in the currency of time—your time, your very essence. The lives after death that are owed your kind will be denied to you, dwindled down to this one alone. The Crown will be yours, as will you belong to it, in grave as in life, and so we ask, Riadne Lysterne—”

“What will you choose?”

“Power… or freedom?”

“Will you accept the Crown you’ve won or return it whence it came?”

Celadon hadn’t been alive for Azurean’s Crowning. This was an entirely new experience to him. But he’d learned enough about these events to know that normally they didn’t take place until a week after the previous High Sovereign’s death—not mere hours later—and only after a funeral and period of mourning was observed, which his father certainly hadn’t been afforded.

They weren’t cloistered affairs either.

Only those who’d survived the Solstice’s carnage had been “permitted” to attend—forced, when it was supposed to be optional and open to any of the royal families and fae aristocracy.

He also knew that every successful Challenger was presented the option to return the Bone Crown—to the Great Three holding current dominion over the Immortal Realm or to new blood of their choosing, displacing Cosmin in his lordship over Night. It would free the Courts of the Crown’s hold over them and its wearer from its cruel toll. To Celadon, who’d been unable to do anything but watch as this power decayed his father from the inside out… Were it him in this position, he’d be tempted to hand it back to Cosmin and be done.

Tempted… but in giving the Bone Crown back to the Immortal Realm, they might as well tear up the peace treaty between them for how effective it would be in enforcing their separation.

The choice wasn’t Celadon’s, though. And Riadne hadn’t schemed and murdered and spurned tradition to get to this point just to hand back her coveted prize. So it was to no one’s surprise, least of all his, that she replied, “I accept.”

The words rang clear.

Tellis waved a hand, and in her grasp appeared the Crown—bleached-white antler bone, twisted into a modest circlet; such a plain and unassuming thing, this trinket that had become the heart of sidhe fae corruption.

Lord Cosmin waved a hand as well, and night splashed out behind him like a gash in the air. From it stepped four black-robed figures Celadon was intimately familiar with—the Wild Hunt in full ceremonial attire, armed with their glinting adamantine weapons.

Eris, Yue, Vesper… Lethe.

Celadon looked quickly away when that poison-green gaze cut from Riadne to him, watching instead as Urielle bade Riadne to rise from her throne with a nod of her chin. And as she did, the whole room watched, breath locked tight in their chests as the Seelie Queen of Light and Summer proceeded to make her descent for the Great Three, the glass shards that comprised her gown now clean of Azurean’s blood, but Celadon could still see it there in his mind’s eye, vibrant blue and fresh as it had been when first spilled.

Riadne strode forward, the click of her heels echoing around the room, and as she moved, Tellis transferred the Bone Crown to Urielle. Riadne positioned herself before the Goddess of the Elements, but unlike all her predecessors, and again unlike their well-established tradition, she didn’t bend her knee.

There was no bow.

There was no curtsy.

Riadne stood just as tall and commanding as she’d sat on her throne, arctic-blue gaze sparking-bright. A moment passed in which Celadon knew they all wondered the same thing: Would Urielle strike her down for this defiance?

But the gods held no power here—Riadne’s display was an embarrassing reminder to them of this fact. All Urielle could do in the face of it was lift the Bone Crown, as easy as though this slight hadn’t bothered her at all, and place it on Riadne’s head. Then taking a step back, she fell to her knee, as custom dictated, Tellis and Cosmin following suit, the Wild Hunt behind them.

“High Queen,” Urielle declared in a loud, formal greeting, folding her hand over her heart. In unison, the rest of the room deferred now too. Vehan stood from his throne to kneel, but Celadon was hesitant, very aware of the eyes that were on him, waiting to see what he would do. Yet defiance at this moment might cost him the little he had left to protect, so reluctantly Celadon too bowed, submitting along with everyone else to their new High Sovereign, Riadne Lysterne, first Crowned High Queen of the Eight Great Courts.

“High Queen, do you wish to renew the contract of peace between our Immortal and Mortal Realms, in all its current conditions?”

Riadne considered Urielle’s question long enough that Celadon’s gaze snapped up from the ground.

His wasn’t the only to do so—Riadne couldn’t seriously be considering a renegotiation with the Immortal Realm on the one thing protecting them from even worse cruelty than her own….

“For now,” Riadne replied at last in a cut-glass, succinct tone.

Cosmin—she was.

There was that feeling of nausea again.

Urielle stood in a singular, swift, fluid motion, quicker than she’d done anything this evening. Tellis and Cosmin rose as well. One by one, the Hunters fanned out and around the group, stalking the throne room to their place behind Riadne’s seat. Vehan glared down at Lethe all the while, but Lethe ignored him entirely—his attention tracked Celadon, and Celadon only.

Why, Celadon had no idea, except that it couldn’t mean anything good.

Lethe almost looked… bewildered, Celadon would describe it, as though something about Celadon’s appearance or magical aura unmasked by Azurean’s passing surprised the Hunter. But surely Lethe had known? Lethe knew everything, more or less.

“For now,” Urielle echoed, and was that amusement in her voice? Celadon snapped his attention from Lethe back to the goddess, but Urielle wicked out of existence in the next moment with nothing but a ribbon of smoke curling in her wake to signal she’d been there at all.

Tellis withered back into her pool of lush greenery, which shriveled down to a lone, dead leaf.

Celadon turned his gaze to Lord Cosmin.

The first to arrive, the last to leave, the god stood a moment longer than the rest, his gaze shifting from Riadne to the Hunters beyond—one in particular, it seemed: Lethe. And as though following Lethe’s line of sight like a tangible thread, he tracked the invisible trail of the Hunter’s focus back to Celadon.

Unsure what to do with the god’s returned attention, Celadon nodded.

Whether this was the right thing to do or not, Cosmin took his leave now too, dissolving into a cloud of ash that took its time to settle.

Once it did, and only then, Riadne squared herself to the room. “Rise,” she bade, firm and loud and clear.

The room rose to their feet.

“The Courts summon before them Nausicaä Kraken. Theodore Reynolds. Vehan Lysterne. And Celadon Fleur-Viridian. And Arlo Jarsdel.”

Arlo…

Celadon’s heart picked up pace in his chest. He hadn’t been allowed to see his cousin since they’d all been pulled and ushered from the ballroom. Guards had whisked her off somewhere—they’d all been separated, though the one who’d tried to peel Nausicaä from her stricken girlfriend’s side had had his arm broken in a swift snap behind his back, and none of the others felt it was worth the death her steely eyes promised to make any further attempt.

He wanted to see Arlo so badly it hurt.

Just one of his family, alive, tangible, not a ghost haunting the backs of his eyelids. Someone he loved who loved him back—he didn’t realize how much he needed Arlo’s surety beside him until just now with the numbness beginning to recede and everything all at once rushing in.

As Celadon moved to the center of the room with Theodore trailing behind in tense silence, his gaze scoured the room yet again for sign of his missing cousin.

For the familiar flash of red, now so close to his bright new Lysterne copper.

He couldn’t find her.

But then…

Whispers—Celadon turned to the open door, to the scene that seemed to spook the room almost as much as the arrival of the Great Three had.

Massive, tattered wings spread wide and cupped around his cousin like a protective shell; tall and frighteningly skeletal, her mouth a wide gash of gruesome teeth, her metallic eyes molten hot, hair spilling like white flame, and black razor talons for nails—this was Nausicaä. This was the Fury in her terrible, true form, the monster this entire realm feared.

The Dark Star… and still it was Arlo who scared him most at this moment.

Arlo, contained in Nausicaä’s fierce protection as she walked in through the ivory doors. Arlo, who looked… nothing like herself right now, a void to Celadon’s numbness, a corpse bride in her bloodied black ballgown.

She made her way to the center of the room, took her place beside Celadon without once even acknowledging he was there. Her gaze was fixed on Riadne, but what she felt, what she thought—even Celadon couldn’t say at all. His cousin, his dearest friend, sister in all ways that mattered, she moved like a hollow shell.

“Arlo?” he murmured, in an attempt to draw her attention to him.

No reaction—he looked to Nausicaä, who shook her head at him in a minute movement, like her own attempts to elicit a response had failed in the exact same way.

Did Arlo… blame him?

Did she also think he’d been in on this with Riadne? No; everyone else, anyone else, they could all think whatever they wanted about him, but Arlo couldn’t… not Arlo….

Cutting into the crescendo of Celadon’s panic, Riadne spoke again. “To those I’ve permitted witness of the beginning of our reform, I wish to make a few of my intentions abundantly clear.”

The room refocused itself on the High Queen. No one moved, save to quickly reposition themselves with a better view of the scene before them.

“Vehan Lysterne, step forward.”

Vehan did as commanded.

Stiff. Still. Vibrating with anger.

Celadon hadn’t had time yet to catch up on everything that had gone on this night, but Aurelian’s suspicious absence and the prince’s sparking outrage that verged on mania suggested Riadne had at least attempted to make good on more than one of her violent threats this past evening—and no, please, he couldn’t be responsible for Aurelian’s death too….

“My son,” said Riadne, in what might almost be a gentle tone for her. “You are the prince of this Court. You were born to it. You were raised by it. You are Seelie Summer by blood and right. Renew this morning your vow of allegiance to me and your people, and you will remain our Crown High Prince. You will be this throne’s successor; no other.”

Not Celadon, in other words, as would have no doubt been the mass concern once it spread to the Courts what had happened while they’d been asleep, that Celadon might try to make a play for Vehan’s birthright too.

Vehan, meanwhile, remained silent.

Unmoving.

For a whole, eternal minute, he stood as defiant as his mother had been in Urielle’s face. Would he abdicate? Would he turn his back on her after all these years of living under her strict control?

A subtle shift—Vehan lowered himself to his knees with all the air of crumbling defeat, incapable to his very core of disobedience. But Celadon was willing to bet the gaze he tucked out of view still burned.

In the brief period of time he’d spent with Vehan, Celadon knew how much this Court and its people meant to him. But Aurelian had meant more, plain and simple—had meant everything. It was clear by the tremors that racked his younger brother’s body, the way he seemed to be doing his all to just hold himself together. And if Aurelian was really gone…

“I swear myself to the Seelie Summer Court. I accept the role of its Crown High Prince.”

“Done,” Riadne said, and in her next breath, “Celadon Fleur-Viridian, Arlo Jarsdel—step forward.”

Arlo moved on automatic out of the semi-enclosure of Nausicaä’s wings and slotted herself into place on Vehan’s left with no sign of hesitation… or any real conscious decision to do so.

And that concerned him.

It was fully possible that Arlo was simply too overwhelmed right now. But Celadon couldn’t shake the feeling that something was wrong. With Riadne’s Magnetic Gift of mesmerization and the added support of her new High Status, of course Arlo would be quick to comply to the queen’s summons, regardless of the situation, but something about this… something about Arlo felt… different.

Had Riadne bound Arlo in some way? What had occurred when Celadon had been smuggled away? Damn it, damn it, he’d already failed her so greatly….

Please don’t blame me, he begged in silence as he stepped forward too, falling into place on Vehan’s right. I didn’t want any of this.

“Celadon.”

He could feel the room’s attention grow hotter on his back. This was what they’d been waiting for, this first interaction between mother and son, with everything between them out in the open. This was where they’d learn their “truth”—warped and twisted into what they wanted to hear, because nothing that happened this morning would absolve him of their suspicion, nor of the guilt in his heart that, want it or not, he’d allowed it all to happen.

Drawing himself to full height and squaring his shoulders, Celadon relied on the scraps of composure he had left and matched Riadne’s electric gaze. “Mother,” he greeted mildly.

The room began to buzz with whispers.

Riadne looked back at him.

It was hard to say with what expression, but there was a sort of starvation behind those eyes that made him wonder, however briefly, what it must have been like to watch the child she might actually have wanted grow up without knowing who she really was to him.

“Celadon Cornelius Viridian,” Riadne began again, and it wouldn’t have escaped anyone that Reseda’s surname had been omitted. “In exchange for your knee and your own vows of loyalty, you will henceforth be granted all rights and privileges of the Lysterne family name. High Prince still, and my recognized, legitimate son by our late High King Azurean’s blood. Swear to me your allegiance, Celadon, and as natural heir and eldest living Viridian royal marked by Spring’s Crowning Gift, it will be my decree as High Queen that you continue your father’s great legacy as Head of UnSeelie Spring.”

… Head of UnSeelie Spring?

Riadne wanted… to make him king?

Celadon’s mind reeled—he should have seen this coming. Of course she’d do this. Of course it would serve her to have her own puppets on the other thrones. But Celadon’s entire family had just been wiped from his life like a stain, and Arlo wouldn’t look at him, and Celadon hadn’t been groomed in the least like his sister Cerelia had been her whole life to fill such an intimidating and difficult role… like Elyas had been too—hells, Elyas! Where was his nephew? Was he all right?

Too caught up in his internalized shock, his brain heard the conversation move on, but nothing in him registered the words that were spoken.

“All that’s required to pass this motion is the acceptance of one other Viridian.” Riadne turned her gaze on Arlo. “Arlo Jarsdel. I asked you this night to make a willing choice—to pledge me your allegiance; to bind yourself and your power to me.”

Celadon felt frost clench around his heart.

She really had. Riadne really had done something to trap Arlo here, to secure her compliance, and Celadon hadn’t been able to protect her at all, as he’d promised he always would.

“You chose to accept, and already that magic has cemented its pact between us, your place here as my guest.”

Guest—the term was laughable. If Arlo had sworn herself to Riadne in any shape or form, even just a nod of compliance to a request of services, then Arlo was little better than a captive. And now he understood why Nausicaä hadn’t whisked her away from all this the moment she appeared in the ballroom last night. With even a nod from Arlo, and until Riadne set her terms of the contract between them, magic wouldn’t let her leave.

“You made your choice, but you will confirm it now again before witness in spoken vow—our oldest and most powerful of magics. Arlo Jarsdel”—the way Riadne grinned around his cousin’s name… she’d won: absolutely everything she’d wanted, Riadne had won in mere hours, and Celadon had never felt such hopelessness in his life—“do you swear me your allegiance, your compliance, your service and all skill?”

Arlo looked up at the queen’s glinting gaze, into an expression that older, braver, grittier warriors would have cowered before to see directed at them. “I do,” she replied. Steady. Lifeless, as everything else about her.

“Do you, as blood of the Viridian line, accept High Prince Celadon as UnSeelie Spring’s king?”

“Sure,” Arlo agreed.

While it lacked proper etiquette and any feeling or thought, it was apparently good enough for Riadne. His mother turned her gaze back to Celadon, and with it, every pair of eyes returned to him as well. “Your answer, Celadon,” she prompted, a curl of amusement beneath her words, because who would be so foolish as to reject so much for so little?

Celadon drew a breath—released it slowly through his nose.

He bowed his head. “I accept,” he said, as graciously as he could around his broken heart, and in an elegant sweep, bent himself to one knee. “Thank you, Your Highness.”

So many people he’d failed last night…

If this was the only way to protect what was left to him, so be it.

Let them think this was what he’d been after all along. Let them think he was content to play into his mother’s hand. Let them think him a monster—if Riadne wanted to dole out even a sliver of power right now, he’d take it.

“Done.” She sealed it as she had with Vehan before carrying on just as quickly. “Theodore Reynolds and the Dark Star, Nausicaä Kraken—I summon you next before me.”

The pang of a memory shot through him of the last time someone had dared to summon Nausicaä to do anything.

His father.

Nausicaä had blown off his demands for days before Arlo had cornered her at the Faerie Ring and given her incentive to cooperate. She hadn’t been too happy about it then, and she didn’t seem any happier now. But Nausicaä stepped up to Arlo’s side, because even a deadly, immortal Fury knew when to pick her battles—and no doubt she was wary of doing something that put Arlo’s life in danger.

Taking the room by muffled surprise, Riadne reached a hand over her shoulder and pulled out the gold, glass, and jeweled sword she’d used to slay Celadon’s father. Wielding her weapon like a scepter, she slammed the point of it to the ground.

The strike reverberated like a crack of lightning, startling all but Arlo and the ever-unflappable Nausicaä.

Riadne waited until she was sure she had everyone’s fear and focus alike.

Sweeping the room with a piercing glance, she returned her attention to the five before her, but her words were for all to hear.

“The both of you wish to remain in my good graces. Theodore—traitor and spy—you may be bound to another master, but I’m the one who keeps your parents, Eurora and Mavren. You can rest assured that for now they are unharmed; how long they remain this way, however…”

She trailed off in her open threat, switching then to her next target.

“Nausicaä—law unto yourself, an immortal cat among pixie mortals. How long has it been since you’ve had anyone to care about other than yourself?”

A glance at Arlo—another quirk of amusement.

Nausicaä glared at the Seelie Summer High Queen hotly enough that Riadne resumed.

“One wishes to remain steadfast at true love’s side. One wishes to keep his family alive. I wish for your bended knee—and in exchange, I’ll allow you to stay. Of course, you’ll have to serve some purpose to me; this is a palace, not an orphanage for pitiful children. But I think I have just the thing…. I could use, after all, a well-trained assassin.”

Oh… no.

Celadon might not be operating at full faculty right now, but he could see where this was going. Riadne Lysterne, who’d been playing her dangerous games for so long, of course she wouldn’t relent in them now. Did she even know how to?

Nausicaä… Theodore… Riadne had already given her sport away in her taunt—she could use, after all, a well-trained assassin.

“Oh, but you know, I’ve only really the need for one….”

And there it was.

“So, I think we can make this a challenge, hmm? A little bit of fun….”

Celadon swallowed.

How?

How on earth would this be a challenge? For Theodore, surely—such unfair odds in pitting him against an immortal Fury—and damn Riadne all over again for her twisted, cruel games, that boy didn’t deserve this.

Theodore was… well, he was Celadon’s friend.

His friend, and Riadne was going to crush him.

His friend, and she was going to use Nausicaä to do so.

“The two of you will have until the Autumn Equinox to bring me the heart of the most fearsome monster you can find. The winner gets to stay on in my employ; the loser gets death—or banishment in your case, my dear,” she amended to Nausicaä. “Until then, you will serve me both, and it matters very much how well you do that; if I start to suspect either of you might not be up to the task, I’ll simply choose neither and do away with you altogether.”

No.

Celadon wanted to shout at them to stop. To not accept. To cut their losses and turn away now. He wanted to warn them not to do this. They weren’t unintelligent; they had to know what Riadne intended in issuing this task so specifically.

Don’t agree to this; it’s a trap and you know it—but how could they refuse?

It was Theodore who sank to his knee first. Folding his hand over his heart, he bowed his head and answered Riadne with “I accept.”

Riadne said nothing.

Her gaze slid to Nausicaä, a fine brow quirking in question: And you?

The second ticked into seconds ticked into a full minute in which nothing happened. Then, with a rippling gust, Nausicaä’s wings retracted in on themselves. Her height shrank to its usual six feet. Her appearance morphed back into what Celadon better recognized: a beautiful teenage girl in the two-piece black suit she’d worn for the ball, left open to no undershirt, only her bright red bra.

Without comment, without reply, with only a glance at Arlo, who wouldn’t look back at her either, Nausicaä sank to her knees as well.

And that was enough.

“Briar Sylvain!” Riadne rounded immediately on the gathered crowd, who’d been wisely quiet through this whole exchange, though they’d have much to gossip about afterward. The fae and folk who’d been spared Riadne’s wrath… but at what cost? Celadon wondered. What had they paid to secure this… and what would Riadne collect later as recompense?

With a rustle of movement, Councillor Sylvain emerged from the audience.

All stepped aside to admit him forward, and Celadon had finally lifted his head now that Riadne no longer watched him to regard the man who shared a heavy portion of responsibility for the past night’s tragedy.

“High Majesty Riadne,” Councillor Sylvain exalted, pushing his way between Celadon and Theodore to drop himself to his knees at her feet. “My queen.”

Lifting his cupped hands, Sylvain presented the gleaming red stone he’d pulled from the servant boy’s chest hours before.

He adored her—it made Celadon want to throw up to hear such sycophantic worship in his voice.

“Briar Sylvain,” Riadne repeated, plucking the stone from his grasp and holding it up to her examination. Her tone had worn down to a far gentler caress now, even more than it had on Vehan. “I owe you tremendous gratitude for what you’ve helped make possible. Your service all these years…”

“My queen, it is I who is grateful!” Councillor Sylvain lifted his head from his scraping bow. Celadon couldn’t see his face, but he could hear quite clearly the passion in his voice. “I have served you happily, will continue to serve you with unparalleled devotion. The stone I created for you this night is but one of many I can arm you with—all seven that you desire will be yours, and once the Courts are under your complete control, you and I, with their own magic pitted against them, can truly stamp out all this impurity together, purge our ranks of infection, and restore the sidhe fae to their glorious—”

A titter of laughter sounded from the dais.

Celadon couldn’t peel his eyes away from Riadne’s face, as she transferred her attention from her stone to Sylvain, but he didn’t need to look to know the wicked delight had come from Lethe.

“Stamp out impurity…”

“Yes, my queen. That… that is the aim? The faerie and ironborn blood polluting our Great Courts… that’s what you—”

“What I what?”

That gentle tone had frozen over deadly.

Clearly, Councillor Sylvain had been misled, used—and it served him right.

Fae were good at wording their promises to serve their own aims; Riadne was best, and whatever she’d said to convince Sylvain to work for her, he’d very obviously been tricked.

What Celadon wouldn’t give to see the shock on the Councillor’s face right now.

And then, too quickly for Celadon to comprehend, Riadne raised her sword. The blade of it sang as it sliced through the air, and as sudden as a blink, Celadon could see the look he’d been imagining—severed from his neck, Sylvain’s head rolled to Celadon’s knee and stopped, a trail of purplish-blue blood in its wake.

“Unfortunate that you failed to press for clarification, Councillor. Your service has, again, been greatly appreciated, but I have no intentions of stamping out impurity—quite the opposite, in fact. How am I to pursue my ends with alchemy a criminal offense?” Riadne lifted her gaze again to the crowd, who all took a step back in response, like she might swing her blade at them next… and really, she could.

Riadne was already wholly unstable. With the Crown on her head… she was only going to get so much worse.

“A demonstration for the gathered powers: every single one of you is alive until I decide it no longer suits me for that to be so. Remember this in the coming days. You are all dismissed—now go.”

Yes, Riadne was unstable. And it was her blood that ran through Celadon’s veins.

How long…?

How long, Celadon wondered, before his body gave out under magic it couldn’t handle? How long until that Crown morphed Riadne’s cruelty into the Courts’ worst nightmare?

How long did he have to save the people he loved from the foolish mistake he’d let come to pass?

“Vehan and Celadon—you two remain. I wish to speak further with you both.”




The surface was on fire, and Lethe wanted to see.

He wasn’t the only one; so many of his people had been drawn to the spectacle, an entire ship set roaring ablaze while a handful of other ships looked on. Mer floated at varying levels of closeness to those wooden underbellies, in gossiping groups and solitary curiosity both. The heat of the flames was such that Lethe could feel its warmth begin to sink through the temperate water along with bits of wooden debris, which meant it wasn’t only gawkers in congregation tonight but gatherers, too, darting around to snatch up precious building materials.

This wasn’t a wholly uncommon occurrence.

Fire had long been a marvel to them, a big part of what had first lured the merfolk to land, but ships catching flame did happen with enough regularity—by conflict or stormy weather—that a crowd this size, this vibrant with excitement, meant only one thing: this wasn’t just a burning but a sacrifice, and Lethe… he only wanted to see.

The Moon loved best the stories he brought it of things it could view only from afar.

“Your Highness, wait!”

“Prince Lethe!”

“Little brother, please—oh, please be careful!”

In and out Lethe wove; up and up and around he darted—too young, they said. He was too young to join tonight’s “festivities.” The mer liked to turn these rare occasions into their own brand of tribute to the sea, reveling in the warmth and light, whipped into a frenzy by the blood that seeped through the water, and feasting on the flesh and bone that fell to them from above. It was a long-standing tradition not meant for fingerlings like him, even those of royal blood—but Lethe hadn’t slipped his guard of sisters and given them chase all the way from the palace just to watch what his people got up to in these affairs.

The Moon had heard enough about that.

Lethe wanted to see.

He wanted to know.

It was one of the things that had brought them together when Lethe had been just a minnow. When he’d first snuck away to the surface, where he wasn’t meant to be, and encountered the moonlight, heard its gentle voice in his head.

A surprise to them both; neither had expected it.

The voice had spoken to him more out of its own loneliness than any real expectation of a return reply. Mortal ears weren’t supposed to be able to register the speech of Celestials—the Sun and Moon and Constellations, cosmic beings of great importance even to immortals, all with life cycles of their own.

The Moon hadn’t known Lethe could hear it, hadn’t known about his own immortal ties, and Lethe—who’d never before conversed with a Celestial—hadn’t anticipated one ever turning its attention to a realm that couldn’t understand it.

His initial reaction had been wariness. The Moon, though—with a voice so young Lethe surmised they were around the same age—had been ecstatic.

Had been so bored, it told him, and it wasn’t long before they realized their shared fascination.

He and the Moon—they had so many questions about human culture, and any time Lethe’s sisters couldn’t provide an answer to what he asked (which was increasingly often, almost always now), they’d laugh and ruffle his hair, tell him to put such things from his mind, because humans would never really be their concern. He couldn’t tell them he wanted to know because the Moon had asked.

He wasn’t supposed to go to the surface; he shouldn’t know the Moon at all.

What those Above got up to was of little consequence to them, they liked to tell him—little consequence to him, they added; Lethe, future King of the Seas.

“Little brother, please—you mustn’t!” Princess Esthe’s melodic voice cut through the water after him.

The mer were all siblings to him, brothers, sisters, but Esthe was the only one related by blood. Older by nearly two entire decades, she wasn’t first in line for their mother’s throne only because she hadn’t been born with the Pull, the Gift unique to the sea’s chosen heir, and them alone.

The Gift that gave its bearer command over the water’s tides.

It was Lethe who’d inherited the Pull from Queen Alanthe. Pathetic as his control of the Gift currently was—he was only eleven years old, nowhere near out of childhood by his people’s measure of such things, and therefore far too young to muster anything worthy of note—the moment he’d been born, a ripple had burst out across the sea, felt clear and wide by the saltwater mer of his kingdom.

Lethe was their future king—their first king, for never before had this Gift manifested in a male of the sea’s royal family. Never before had the sea’s royal family given birth to a male heir at all.

“You mustn’t,” Princess Esthe continued to scold after him. “Mother forbade this, Lethe! Please don’t make me report it to her….”

It pained him to disobey his sister—any of them, but Esthe especially.

He adored his siblings, was adored by them. They were fierce warriors and caregivers both, his teachers and protectors. Males of their kind weren’t permitted at the palace, so it was only his sisters and otherwise-gendered siblings that Lethe made any true friendships with, but Esthe… she’d always meant the most.

Tonight was important, though.

Tonight, Lethe had to put other things first.

Tonight, he was sure to acquire knowledge neither the Moon nor their people had ever before possessed. Why the humans performed these sacrifices, what they gained from such things, who they chose, who they sacrificed to—anything gleaned would be valuable. Few thought much of those Above, but the mer had been enticed to land… eventually, those Above might be enticed below, as well.

It would be smart to learn as much about them as Lethe could before that point. Never mind that he was barely out of infancy; never mind that his mother had forbidden trips to the surface until he was grown enough to protect himself.

Smart… and it would make the Moon, his best and only real friend, so happy….

In and out Lethe wove; up and up and around he darted. Pleas followed as he swam—startled greetings, laughter and coos of “hello, brother” and shouts of “good luck” as he passed—his moon-white hair streaming behind him, the cascade of his pearlescent silver tail glinting in the watery slants of firelight.

It took mer years to prepare for life on land. Learning how to split their tail into legs was only a sliver of what they needed to master in order to survive the venture. Lethe stole away to the surface more than anyone knew—more the closer he grew to the Moon, just as bright and pale as he was, when all his other siblings flashed colorful fins and hair similar to the tropical fish of their home.

He wasn’t a prince for nothing, wasn’t inquisitive for nothing. A fast study, he’d always been called, so it didn’t take him long to figure survival out on his own, enough at least that he was able to shake his stupor quickly when he finally broke through the surface into chaos—into sounds and vibrancy and crystal clarity, vivid flame, and fragrant air.

“Your Highness!” a voice gasped in delighted shock, the sound of it so cut-glass loud above the surface that it made Lethe wince a little to hear it. “Little brother, good evening—are you… are you supposed to be up here? Where’s Sister Esthe? Does she know you’re—”

It was one of his siblings, their head bobbing just above the water too, seafoam-and-teal hair spread in a pool around them like a swirling film.

There were others scattered about as well. None paid him any attention; most lurked below the ships where it was far safer, but his siblings of the palace were their best trained warriors and certainly wouldn’t let something as dull as risk keep them from satiating their own curiosity tonight.

And there, above it all, the cool and familiar face of his friend, bright and full and unusually large.

Hello, Lethe. It spoke its greeting in his mind the way it always did—warmer than its cool light suggested, as elegant and careful as the brush of swaying seaweed against his skin. But tonight, there was the extra swell of unrestrained excitement in its voice.

Hello, Patron of Lonely Things, Lethe pressed warmly back, using the title the Moon had jokingly introduced itself as when they’d first made acquaintance.

Swallowing back a bubble of laughter, he pushed aside the desire to preen a little that the Moon was so excited because of him.

He loved the Moon.

He loved the Moon perhaps as much as he loved Esthe, for the Moon… it seemed to understand him, and Lethe understood it—trapped up there, forever gazing down at a world it would never get to walk through and touch.

How curious it was about what went on beneath its watch, as curious as Lethe, and some nights he would anchor himself to a rock, bob in the water, spend hours trading stories with it, all the things they’d like to know and the things Lethe vowed to answer for them both….

He gave his sibling a curt nod and swam on before anyone thought to stop him.

He needed to be fast.

Before Esthe and the others could catch up to him and corral him back to the palace.

Cutting through the dark waves gilded fiery orange, Lethe made for the school of ships sitting a safe distance opposite the one that currently burned. Even for a mer, Lethe was a strong swimmer. Not so much as a ripple shuddered in his wake as he moved toward the lead ship.

For undoubtedly this was where he’d find it—his answers, his story for the Moon that would make it glow oh so happy.

All he needed was a glimpse—a brief listening-in.

He’d scale the ship’s hull, keep out of sight, and spend a few moments on observation, and as soon as he learned all he could worth sharing, he’d drop back to the water unscathed, uncaught, perfectly safe.

Everyone would be watching the fire; no one would be watching out for spying little merboys.

Moonlight glinted off the waves as though guiding him along the safest course. In no time at all, as quietly as he’d moved through the water, Lethe touched the wooden hull and bobbed a moment upright. Pressed as close to the ship as possible, as low down in the water as he could keep with his head still above it, he focused his magic just as he’d practiced alone in his room for months a few years back.

Slowly, his fin began to part. His lower body began to separate into two halves.

Slowly, a bit like knives shredding him to ribbons, his tail remade itself into silvery-scaled legs, his fin into feet. A bit warped, these newly fashioned limbs of his. They reminded him a little of driftwood—and that was due to lack of training; real practice with a real mentor would smooth that out for him later. For now this crude but effective self-taught method took mere seconds—he was good at it even without a formal teacher, another impressive feat he pridefully noted to balance out his underwhelming grasp of the Pull.

Be careful, Lethe, the Moon pressed in warning. This burning is something of significance. The gods have been invoked—do not draw their attention.

I’m always careful, Lethe thought back, perhaps a touch arrogantly. The gods don’t scare me. He could practically feel the burst of fond exasperation through whatever magic connected them.

It would all be okay. He wasn’t there to interfere, would give no cause to draw anyone’s attention at all.

But now would come the true test of his skill.

A time or two he’d heaved himself up onto the rocks to converse with the Moon, but never before had Lethe dared to fully utilize these bizarre human appendages to carry himself around.

Claw-tipped fingers sinking sure into the wood, Lethe pulled himself upward. His feet were clumsy. Easier by far than trying to get his fin to do this, but the effort it took his brain to have to constantly tell his feet what to do—exhausting.

How humans went about like this, he would never understand.

Up the side of the ship he climbed, clumsily but true, and blessedly silent in comparison to the shouting and reveling and music on the other ships behind, the crackling wood and roar of flames of the dying ship at front.

When he reached the railing, he paused.

This ship was quiet, with only one conversation to overhear, but much too far from where Lethe hung to pick out anything substantial with everything else going on. Inching a little farther up along the rail, he finally dared to peek up over his fingers enough to gauge if anyone was close.

Thankfully, they weren’t.

Revealed to Lethe was the ship’s deck, lanterns here and there to light it with pools of soft, orange light. Men stood about, some filthy and sweating, others in much finer garb and far better composure, but all alike in grips of what could be described only as a fearful, stricken hush.

Every pair of eyes was trained forward, but not on the burning across the way. No, what captivated their attention was what drew Lethe’s, too.

A man, standing apart from the rest.

This one’s robes were the most splendid of all, white and turquoise, decorated in gold, pearls, and sapphires, and paired against bangles and rings and numerous necklaces was an elegant crown atop his head. He could be no one other than a king. And with the waves and fish and tridents embroidered on his clothing… the Atlantean king, Lethe recalled from his personal studies of nearby Above regions.

King Atlas.

Standing directly opposite him was…

Lethe reeled back in shock, nearly losing his grip on the rail and dropping to the sea.

“—an honor,” he overhead King Atlas saying, “that you have answered the prayers of a human, yourself in the flesh, no less.”

You could have mentioned it was him, Lethe huffed at the Moon, then rolled his eyes at the answering swell of sheepish apology.

Hair that flashed white in one angle, black as the glittering night sky in others. Eyes deeper, darker, than the void of the sea’s great chasms. In robes of black rot and stark bone, cosmic dust and melting stars, stood Cosmin, Lord of Death and Night himself—and not at all who Lethe had expected to encounter here.

The gods had been invoked, indeed.

Lord Cosmin.

Lethe’s father.

But why?

King Atlas had said it himself—he was a human mortal, had his own pantheon of gods to whom he could pray. Why and how he even knew of one of the folk’s greatest deities was a baffling mystery.

“You appeal for my favor, human king,” Cosmin replied, low and cool and steady in a voice smooth as the scales of Lethe’s tail. “A great deal of life was sacrificed this evening for it.”

King Atlas stood tall. Lethe had heard tell of even other gods who couldn’t claim that much bravery in Cosmin’s presence. Lethe could barely bring himself to look him in the eye the whole two occasions they’d met since his birth, in which his father had said very little to him.

“We weren’t sure how much it would take for what we need… Forgive me, I know not what to call you—I’ve never before consorted with the barbarian faerie gods.”

Cosmin regarded him, expression bland and fathomless. “Call me whatever you wish,” he said after a protracted pause. “In death you learn no life is worth more than another’s, and titles are as easily lost as won. Speak, King Atlas. The eldest sons of your twelve Great Houses burn before you—on what do you spend such precious payment?”

“On a son of my own, Lord Cosmin.”

Almost without conscious effort, Lethe pulled himself closer. Shifting was slow; though the railing was handsome and polished to a sleek shine, his hands disliked the feel of dry things and seemed to fight against him moving.

“A son for the greatest kingdom known to man. A son for the people, who will one day turn to father himself, charged with care for each of them. Not I, but we, Atlantis united, spend this worthy sacrifice on our future. You are the first to answer our prayers. Our own gods spurned us. Perhaps the faerie ones are better deserving of worship within our walls.”

Twelve sons for the price of one?

Could this king produce none of his own, then?

The mer birthed so few sons themselves; Lethe had been a bargain, a deal made between his mother and Lord Cosmin, both who desired an heir for different reasons, none of which they’d sufficiently illuminated to him beyond the want of a child.

Twelve deaths seemed like a waste, and he wouldn’t have dared to appeal to Lord Cosmin’s time for aid in this matter, besides—Lord Cosmin’s was the realm of death alone. Tellis, goddess of fertility, would be the better bet here, but King Atlas… Lethe’s information told him he was a shrewd man well-known for his intelligence, and Lethe had to concede it wasn’t a terrible idea asking Death to skip his house rather than inviting in fragile life with no protection when gods could spin a prayer any way they desired, and just as quickly steal that life away.

“Twelve sons for the price of one,” Lord Cosmin replied, echoing Lethe’s astonishment with a genuine flicker of surprise on his marble-perfect face. “A son you wish to secure for the future of your people.”

“A son who will help our kingdom’s legend last throughout the rest of time,” King Atlas added in clarification, because oh, but he’d been taught well by someone to mind the way he phrased his requests. “My wife’s attempts so far to provide such an heir have been fruitless; the wife before her as well. It is, perhaps, that no woman in Atlantis is in possession of a womb great enough to bear this task, and so it’s to the gods I turn for assistance. Will you grant me what I seek, O Faerie Lord of the starry heavens?”

It was no small ask.

Perhaps his own gods had spurned him because a request like that required more in payment.

But Cosmin replied, “Very well,” and in response, King Atlas straightened.

Lethe couldn’t see his face from this angle, but undoubtedly that stiffness was shock. Because very rarely did the Great Three answer the folk’s prayers themselves, and this one in particular… Perhaps Lord Cosmin was simply amused. Perhaps he suspected Atlas would be some future asset in his pocket, or merely that Atlas wouldn’t stop at twelve sons on a burning ship to get what he wanted.

But “very well”?

How many prayers had Lord Cosmin ignored in his time, only to grant this one with the bid of two words?

Void-black eyes slid past the king and locked firmly onto Lethe’s gaze, and another shock of surprise shot down his spine—followed quickly by unspooling dread that froze Lethe in place.

Lord Cosmin… he knew Lethe was there.

Lethe! He heard the Moon in his head, frantic and urgent in its plea. Lethe, drop back to the water!

“You wish for a son of stock to secure Atlantis’s place in legend.” Lord Cosmin spoke to Atlas, but not once did his eyes leave Lethe’s.

Those eyes watched Lethe the entire time, too black, too deeply mired in something that might have been sorrow? Regret? Apology? Lethe couldn’t place the expression exactly, and similarly couldn’t move for it. He was immobilized, unable to heed the Moon’s direction despite how loudly his own instinct to do just that screamed alongside the Moon’s panic.

“You offer, in exchange, the lives and futures of twelve young men. Fate has ordained this, has instructed my attendance. I am but her servant, so very well, King Atlas—I accept… and deliver what’s due.”

No sooner had he spoken those heavy words than Cosmin vanished, dissolving into ash that scattered on the swell of a passing breeze.

I accept, and deliver.

Lethe! The Moon fairly sobbed.

But it was Cosmin’s proclamation that rang in Lethe’s ears well after the god who’d spoken it was gone.

They meant something, those words. The look on Lord Cosmin’s face before he left, the hint of remorse that pulled at his speech, as though he’d known he’d been meant to yield a son tonight, but not until now did he realize which one.

It meant something… the way he’d been watching Lethe as he spoke…

And it was too late to work it all out.

A flash of moonlight glinted off metal—Lethe couldn’t recover from his shock in time, and the Moon couldn’t do much to protect him all the way up in its realm as it was. But still it tried to buy Lethe time….

Someone nearby yelped in pain as that glint left him momentarily sightless.

And there was more shouting now, more than just the caution in his head, more than what issued from the ships beyond. His siblings, his sisters—their shrieking; the sea below—wailing.

More glinting light, but not enough; hands wrapped themselves under Lethe’s arms and hauled him up over the rail.

“What do we have here?”

Lethe struggled.

The sea churned in violent outrage.

He tried to use his Pull to call to it, to free himself, to coax a wave to swell up and swallow the ship entire into the sea, or at the very least upset the man holding him into tumbling overboard… but nothing happened. The water didn’t respond beyond a pitiful slap against the hull.

No doubt some of his sisters had gone to fetch his mother; the rest of his siblings gathered to his rescue—he could hear shouts of the men now too, calling for harpoons and spears and anything they could get their hands on to fend off what seeped from the sea’s deadly depths.

None of it would be in time.

“What is it?” barked King Atlas. “Toss it back and be done. The sea begins to rage—we’ve angered Poseidon with what we’ve done tonight. It’s time to return home!”

Yes, throw him back, release him!

“But Lord Atlas—it’s a boy!”

“A boy…” It broke out in whispered disbelief, spreading like the fire in that half-consumed ship beyond. It was followed by the reverent addition of “I accept, and deliver what’s due.”

A son.

King Atlas paused.

With wary eyes he regarded Lethe, took a step closer to him. Skepticism was clear in his expression, a small distaste as though he’d have much preferred this son he was due be one that shared his blood… but curiosity, too. Interest. A boy, hanging off the edge of his ship all the way out here where boys shouldn’t be, and who was Atlas to argue with the gods that chose to grant wishes?

He’d be a fool to turn Lethe away.

And Lethe could see it—the very moment his fate was sealed in the resignation that steeled the king’s expression. Fight drained from Lethe’s limbs entirely as soon as their gazes met, and his destiny locked into place, trapping him in its clutches, powerless to escape.

“I accept, and deliver,” Atlas echoed. Then added, “Bring him here.”




CHAPTER 2 Aurelian [image: ]


AURELIAN LEANED AGAINST THE far wall of an office he might have found impressive under any other circumstance.

It was located in the upper portion of a busy tavern; the wall opposite him and the entrance was consumed by an enormous obsidian fireplace. Warmth danced in its glassy reflection, spilled out into a richly stained mahogany room accented with blackwood furniture—bookshelves lined to bursting with thick, leather-bound tomes; cabinets of glittering trinkets, and jeweled and golden treasures; divans and cushions upholstered in demask gold and opulent, bloodred silks.

It was the handsome desk stationed directly in front of that unnecessarily large fireplace that commanded the room, and if it weren’t for her gleaming attire, the woman seated behind it might have been completely blacked out by the haloing glow of light at her back.

Melora, Lethe had greeted upon their arrival.

Aurelian’s gaze had no problem cutting through the obstructing glare to assess a beautiful woman, tall and shapely, wearing gold as though armor had been melted and poured down the swell of her breast and around the flare of her wide hips. Beneath the metal clung a skintight dress made of something pearlescent that gleamed like scales, and she was adorned with so much jewelry—bangles and necklaces and piercings and rings, all of ruby encrusted with yet more gold—that she could rival a dragon’s hoard, everything in stark contrast against the deepest umber of her flawless skin.

Melora looked… unreal in her perfection, sat in her high-backed wooden chair with all the regality of a queen on her throne. But it wasn’t Aurelian she studied back, or the unlikely collection of company Lethe had brought before her tonight. It was Lethe himself, the blood-fire red of her gaze locked steady with the poison green of his.

“It’s done, then?”

Lethe inclined his head with an overabundance of flourish.

Aurelian couldn’t see his face, but he could hear the curl of crass amusement in his tone when he replied, “The High King is dead. Riadne’s Crowning should be underway as we speak. Long live our new High Queen.”

Elyas, tucked against his mother’s side, issued a sound in the back of his throat that made Aurelian’s heart constrict to hear. He’d been too young to attend the Solstice, thank the gods for that much, and Elexa—as Aurelian had pieced together—had been too anxious about leaving his side to accompany her husband. She’d stayed with her son, and if she hadn’t, she would have been dead alongside the Viridian royals.

Whatever Lethe’s aims truly were, whoever’s side he was truly on (if anyone’s at all), and how anything that had happened this past night actually served him, he and Lethe had been the ones to retrieve Elyas and Elexa at the Palace of Spring before Riadne could send anyone to capture them. It had been their last stop in the whirlwind handful of hours since Lethe had whisked him away from the Solstice party, before leading the lot of them here to the Hiraeth—the forest that was the very life-vein of magic, sealed to any save those still connected to the Wild.

Rory Jarsdel, Nikos Chorley, Elyas and Elexa Viridian, and Aurelian Bessel—an odd troupe they made up. Whatever Lethe was after in drawing them all together, Aurelian couldn’t begin to guess the full extent of it. But he’d overheard enough information between his own kidnapping and all their stops along the way here to piece together something of the bigger picture.

“Time to remember who you are, last but one Flamel…”

“… if you can find it within your mortal pride to set aside petty differences, the Assistance might actually be useful for once…”

“She is coming for your little Springling prince. By all means stay here, but if you do, neither of you will outlast the night… I doubt even the coming hour.”

“Very well.” Melora spoke, breaking Aurelian from his memories of the night up to now. Delicately she set the long-stem cigarette holder she’d been pulling drags from throughout this meeting on an obsidian tray beside her. Rising then from her seat, she uncoiled with all the elegance of a great serpent. “So it begins. And this, I assume, is to be our fighting chance? Two fugitive royals, a long-forgotten alchemist, a tired vigilante, and… a lesidhe boy.”

Lethe wheeled around so quickly his Hunter’s robe fanned around him.

Facing Aurelian now, he grinned, and it was Aurelian’s instinct to glare back, because like hells if they thought he would play along nicely in all this shadowy business. He had no damned idea what he was doing here, why he hadn’t been allowed to go back to Vehan yet, and even just the thought of Vehan… how far he’d been torn from his prince’s side, what danger Vehan was in right now with Aurelian nowhere near to protect him…

A lurch in his chest—a flutter of panic that wrenched his heart over a series of misfired beats, so profoundly that Aurelian almost gasped aloud.

“You’ll thank me soon for the lesidhe boy,” was Lethe’s cryptic reply. “He’s going to be a most useful general once he comes into himself.” Then, tilting his head back enough to meet Melora’s stern expression, he raised a hand in farewell and added, “Your requested seeds to grow your army, my illustrious Madam. The rest is up to you. Now, if you’ll excuse me, it seems we’ve reached the point in our High Queen’s Crowning where I must make an appearance. My lord Cosmin summons—play nicely, now….”

And he was gone.

Seeds to grow your army…

Your most useful general…

Aurelian’s glare transferred to Melora, but before he could make any demand of her to explain what the hells was going on—

“Riadne Lysterne killed my grandfather?”

Elyas stepped forward.

He squared his jaw.

Aurelian’s attention shifted to him, this boy who was so much like Celadon in certain angles, save all that starlight-white hair. Eleven years old—Elyas was just a child, but he looked so much older at this moment, standing tall in a room of grown adults discussing what sounded like war.

Melora transferred her burning gaze to the young Viridian prince as well. She said nothing, merely considered him, but that didn’t deter Elyas in the least.

“During the Solstice—where my father was too, and aunt and uncle and grandmother and… and Arlo. And—”

“You wish to know what’s happened to your family.”

Cut off mid–floundering speech, Elyas kept his mouth open a moment longer, as though weighing how best to respond. In the next moment, it closed, and Elyas nodded curtly.

Drawing herself fully upright, Melora wound around her desk to stand before them. She had a way of moving that was pure, swaying grace, and at the same time… careful, as though her mass weighed heavier, her body wider, than appeared to the eye.

Melora was more than the face she presented, but Aurelian had known that from the moment they arrived. There was something terrible in her magic, an enormity, a great antiquity that betrayed that while she might not be immortal like Lethe, formidable like called to formidable like.

She was no mere faerie or fae.

“Lethe has told you nothing, I’m sure,” she sighed. “That’s his prerogative—we should count ourselves lucky he’s invested this much of his attention in our matters. But I’m sure it hasn’t escaped your notice where you are?”

“The Goblin Market,” Elyas replied, his tone betraying nothing of what he felt about that fact.

Melora nodded. “The original, where it fled when the Courts formed and fae chose to center themselves as the source of their own power, with their Sovereigns as their core. It’s grown in population over the last couple of years, because the Wild knows—it’s sensed for some time—the rot that’s begun to root itself in our realm. The Goblin Market has always been a sanctuary, but now more so than ever with philosopher’s stones being created and the Sins being powered anew. Their dark forces already begin to infect the lands, eating away at its fringes like mold.”

She had a melodic voice, whoever this woman was. Something in the back of Aurelian’s mind attached familiarity to this situation—he couldn’t quite pin what sparked the embers of recognition, whether it was her name, her appearance, or her residence, but Lethe didn’t strike him as the sort who made “friends” with insignificant people.

Melora had to be someone—the question was, who?

“Soon,” she continued, ignorant to Aurelian’s musing, “this Market might be the realm’s only refuge, but of course you haven’t noticed any of this yet. Court fae have grown so detached from the nature that once nurtured them. For the time being, your cloistered existence protects your kind, but not for long. Your grandfather, Prince Elyas, the late High King Azurean, has fallen to the very woman behind this stirring evil—your grandfather and, my condolences, young prince, nearly the whole of your Viridian family too.”

Aurelian’s heart gave another painful lurch.

No.

He’d been right all along. The woman behind this stirring evil was none other than Riadne; she had been involved—somehow or other—in all the horrific deaths of late, just as he’d been suspecting.

Lethe had fed him only enough information when he’d stolen Aurelian away from the Solstice party to confirm Riadne had indeed plotted to execute her revenge that night. What that revenge was he hadn’t bothered to elucidate. All Aurelian had been given was the vague threat that a great deal of blood would be spilled, and his had been meant to join it, and perhaps he should stop asking asinine questions and let them continue with their busy night if he wanted to save his dark-haired prince from the perilous heart of his mother’s endgame.

Hearing now what Riadne had done… seeing the impact of those words on Elyas’s stricken face—it froze him, the dread that rushed through his veins sudden as a bursting dam. Celadon… Arlo… if anything had happened to them… He’d never actually lost someone who mattered to him before, not beyond mere acquaintance at least. He’d been so consumed with his own predicament, with keeping Vehan alive in addition, that it hadn’t even occurred to him… Celadon and Arlo… somehow or another, they’d gone and made themselves important to him too.

They couldn’t be gone.

He refused to accept that.

“Please,” said a voice that hadn’t spoken all evening.

Raw, rough around the English-accented edges, Rory Jarsdel had already known a significant amount of trauma this night, what with Lethe lifting the magic he’d woven to lock away Rory’s memories. Forced to relive everything he’d been made to forget in the span of minutes—everything he’d done and been before he’d given up what conversation hinted had been his life and love and truth as one of the last living members of the Flamel family line—Rory looked… tired.

Rory Flamel… which meant Arlo was…

“Please… my daughter. My wife?”

Aurelian looked between Rory and Melora, heart hammering in his chest. He knew exactly nothing about Arlo’s family history, but it didn’t require anything deeper than a glance at the man across the room to see how much he loved them, his daughter… his wife…. If Melora named Arlo among the dead, that far-too-trusting and good-hearted girl, his friend—

The anger, he could feel it building….

“I think, perhaps, this would work best if I showed you.” Melora reached behind her to pluck an object from her desk. She held out to them a small glass orb, clear as a droplet of water, that Lethe had tossed to her the moment he’d waltzed through her office door. “The enormity of what I have to tell you all, how truly dire our situation is—it will be graphic. I would recommend the young prince and his mother step outside.”

“I’m not going anywhere,” Elyas growled, his mother clasping his shoulders firmly. Though she was pale and trembling slightly, no less resolution shone in her eyes. “I want to see—”

“You do not,” Melora interjected, but did nothing to force Elyas into the hall outside her door. “None of you do, but this is only the beginning of what’s to occur, and it won’t do any of you any good to go forward from this in ignorance. You have to know.”

Did Aurelian wish to see?

No, he really didn’t.

He already knew. He was well acquainted with Riadne’s viciousness, had no desire to bear witness to whatever she’d done to the people she hated most in this world—was certain it would haunt him to do so. But there he stood regardless, unable to move, unable to voice any objection, trapped by the gnawing that grew in his chest. No one else took a step toward the office door either, to leave.

Melora looked each of them in the eye, lingering a moment on every gaze. “I apologize for this necessity.”

And carefully squeezed her hand.

The orb popped, like it really had been water ready to burst. But it poured from her palm in far more than the trickle its size suggested. It poured, and it poured, forming a pool at her feet of swirling colors that spread across the floor.

As the pool grew—across the wooden planks, up the walls around them, closing overhead—the office washed away, the colors painting them into a different scene altogether. Mahogany gave way to broken glass. Cabinets morphed into uprooted iron trees. In an instant, Aurelian was plunged back into the Luminous Palace’s Grand Ballroom, suspended in time, one cruelly preserved moment in history—but the place looked nothing like how he’d left it.

No more than handfuls of folk remained of the hundreds of invited guests—all but a few cowered at the base of the staircase Aurelian had descended with Celadon only hours ago.

The trees that had been beautiful, gleaming gold stood tarnished, warped, their roots snaking across the broken glass floor, several of them suspended in the air. When Aurelian looked up to see what they dangled, his immediate reaction was to cut that gaze back; to close his eyes; to will away the image burned into his mind of the contorted bodies of the Viridian royal family, of the Verdant Guards that had tried to protect them, of Lord Lekan and High Lord Morayo… they hung now in place of where cherry blossoms once bloomed.

Elexa gasped, holding her son’s head to keep his gaze from traveling upward too, keeping it firmly on what was in front of them instead, though that wasn’t any better—Councillor Briar Sylvain, bent over the body of the serving boy Aurelian had bumped into earlier that evening, the one with the strange hollowness to him, the red glowing eyes… Sylvain, frozen with the boy’s chest rent in horrific two, his ribs pried open, and held aloft in bloody hands over the gaping cavity was the ruby-bright stone the Councillor had wrenched free.

Riadne stood just across the way, on the outskirts of the array that had been the same as what was etched on Vehan’s chest—damn it, damn it! He’d known all along, been right all along. Aurelian could have prevented all of this… but he hadn’t.

And there she was.

Bone Crown clutched so tightly in her hands that the points pierced through her skin; her own sapphire blood trickling down her fingers to mix with the High King’s life that was splashed up the entire front of her dress.

Riadne, triumphant… High Queen at long last.

The impossible, gnawing, seething anger that had been building inside him ever since Riadne had revealed what she intended for both him and her son…

He almost couldn’t keep grasp of it right now.

His body shook with the rags of all the effort he had left to keep from igniting with the rage that scorched the edges of his vision.

“Riadne Lysterne has been rejuvenating the Sins one by one, using carefully groomed alchemists to pull them from subjects she primed long ago for this very purpose,” Melora explained, turning to sweep a hand out at the evil before them. “She seeks to resurrect Ruin, a titan so formidable they’ve been kept under careful guard and lock since the deities rose to power. Only with the Sins brought together can that lock be broken, and summoning them alone… It’s a complicated process, I’m informed. Requires far more than the most advanced alchemy to see it through. Only a child’s heart can be made into a stone, you see, as children are the most mutable, most adaptable to change, have yet to be affected in any significant way by outside influence. The heart must then be strong enough to withstand the magic that calls the Sins forth. If it isn’t, they succumb to it and die; if it is, they’re open to the Sin’s choosing for whomever they deem their most favorable host.”

Aurelian and Vehan had worked out a great deal of what Melora so readily revealed to them now, but here he was, finally learning the answers they’d been after for so long, and Aurelian could barely listen.

Anger pulsed so loud in his ears….

He was so stuck on Vehan, his prince, his boyfriend, the love of his whole, cursed life—Vehan, frozen in his struggle against the guards holding him back from his mother. Vehan, alive, for now, and furious…

He was so stuck on Arlo—oh gods, she was all right. Or rather, she too was alive. All right looked very much the opposite of her current well-being, and the way she stood, alone save Nausicaä behind her on the middle landing of that staircase… Even if she hadn’t been a moment in time preserved by magic, there was something about the way she held herself that hinted she’d been just as dead-eyed and unresponsive in real time.

Aurelian couldn’t… he couldn’t imagine…

He’d met Arlo’s mother barely weeks ago, had gamed with her at Arlo’s bedside while her daughter recovered from near-fatal poisoning. Thalo Viridian-Verdell… she hung in the branches above his head as well.

This was his fault.

Oh gods, this was all his fault!

His search became frantic now—two people he cared about were safe, but where was the third? And the fourth, because Theodore, damn it all, he mattered too….

There—he spotted him. Finally. Thank goodness. Theodore, standing apart from the group as though he’d been somewhere else moments prior, had only just returned to this nightmare unfolding. Theodore… alive, shock etched clear across his face as he tried with no real effort to hold someone back… a young man with copper hair and mismatched eyes….

He almost looked like Celadon.

He almost looked like Vehan.

He definitely looked like Riadne. This was… what was…

Melora’s voice stole over the wiped-blank slate of Aurelian’s thoughts. “Alchemy,” she continued on, “is then required to pull free that Sin and stone united. In order to do so, a price must be paid. Tonight, it was Lust freed into the world. Briar Sylvain paid in what he loved most to make that happen—his pride. His false identity as a full-blooded sidhe fae was sacrificed to his achievement, his ironborn heritage revealed to the world. Riadne will claim his life, if she hasn’t already; in order for her to gain control of the Sin, the former possessor must die. Once she has it, it won’t matter that she didn’t summon it forth. Its Gift will still belong to her. Each Sin grants one.”

“How do you know any of this?”

It was Nikos Chorley who spoke, peeling his focus from Rory’s tight, upturned face to growl at Melora. “We’ve known each other for many years, Melora, kept each other’s secrets. What have you been keeping from us?”

A crack of emotion finally showed on Melora’s face. She raised her hands in a placating gesture. “Peace, old friend. I am far from clean of blood, you well know that, but this I’ve had no part in. It’s once again Lethe we have to thank for this intimate knowledge. He made it clear how much better it would serve my ambitions to be aligned with him rather than Riadne. A queen who seeks control of all can hardly be trusted to share power, to leave her allies alone to theirs. No, Lethe brought me in on this the exact same way he brought the rest of you, and—”

“And you trust him, do you?” Aurelian retorted, returning to himself at last to glare down their mysterious host—though apparently not so mysterious to Nikos.

Melora’s lip curled over her teeth, but the hand she raised wasn’t to deliver any sort of punishment for his impertinence. She snapped her fingers, and the scene around them burst once more into watercolors that ran together, melting away from the walls like they were swirling down some unseen drain.

Once the room was again Melora’s office, the ballroom nothing but the clear orb droplet it had come from, Elexa dissolved into tears. Rory stepped forward to comfort her, wrapping an arm around her shoulder, his own face white as death, eyes red with his own unshed grief—the Viridians… awful as they’d no doubt been to him, they’d been his family, too.

Aurelian had forgotten.

So much of this pain is all my fault.

He shouldn’t have been so slow to warn them, should have tried harder to make Vehan listen. Riadne had never made it secret to him who she really was because he’d been meant to die in that ballroom too, and Lethe, for whatever reason, had gone against that wish to spare him.

Why?

Why him? Who was Aurelian that he should get this second chance at life and not someone like Arlo’s mother, a far more useful general than he could ever be?

“No matter what Riadne believes she’ll be able to do once all seven stones are collected… Ruin is destruction, plain and simple. They will heed her order only until the Sins burn through her life, and once they do, the titan even our mysterious benefactor speaks of in wary terms will be freed. Ruin will stop at nothing to devour this world, to tear it apart at the seams until your precious Courts fall, and their pieces are consumed, and our only hope then will be turning to the gods for help—our immortal tyrants, returned at last. We stand quite literally against everything in trying to stop this end. I don’t question why Lethe has betrayed his ilk for our gain; I question why he thinks you, lesidhe boy, will be any help to me.”

Aurelian understood the sentiment.

He opened his mouth—to bite back with what, he didn’t know, only that he still couldn’t regain control over the anger that made him tremble—but was once again interrupted before he could find out what it would have him say.

“You’re building an army.”

Elyas stood, white in the face, but determined. Aurelian was sure the boy hadn’t needed to look to know how gruesome an end his family had met. Eleven years old… but Melora was starting to come around to him, Aurelian could tell that, too. She eyed him with a hotter fire that could be only interest.

“I am. Our new High Queen has the Bone Crown, three of the Seven Sins, and the Immortal Realm’s grudge on her side. If we have any hope of standing against that, we’ll need an army, and soon. Because soon she’ll have all she needs to summon Wrath, last of the Sins—and the army Wrath gifts her… We’ll need everything we can muster just to contend with it.”

“I’m going to fight.”

The corner of Melora’s mouth quirked in amusement. “I should hope so, young prince,” she sniffed, but there was no missing the relief that flickered across her expression, which said clearly that she wanted all the help she could get. “Your connections will be most useful. Many will want to gather around the last of the tragic Viridians. Already there is a task I would set you to—an Autumn prince of your High Grandfather’s bloodline who’d be more amendable to meeting with someone closer to his age, status, and relation.”

This was all his fault—like hells was Aurelian letting this young boy sign himself away to… whoever this was, not unprotected. Celadon was alive, was still in Aurelian’s debt to protect Vehan and his family, all trapped within Riadne’s walls. Least he could do in return was protect Celadon’s young nephew with every fiber of his being. “I’m going too.”

Melora turned a much harder eye on him. “A wise decision,” she replied after a prolonged moment. “It may just prove your usefulness to me, incline me to see what a god finds so valuable in you that he’d put you up for the role of general.”

A… god?

Did she mean Lethe?

Were all Hunters considered more than just standard immortal, or did Lethe occupy a status the rest of them were unaware of?

“And you owe me a debt—several, I’d say. That goblin fire in the desert… the lost sales in all the commotion you lot caused in my arena—”

The… goblin fire?

Lost sales…

Wait a moment.

“I wish to go with them too, Melora.”

Rory stepped forward, polite as he’d been all evening, so much like his daughter that Aurelian felt his guilt ratchet up all over again, but that had to take a back seat for now to the puzzle his brain had just pieced together.

“I’m sorry, Rory. You’ve only just returned to us—but I need you for another purpose. Already Riadne gathers talented alchemists to aid in her efforts, and we could use with one of our own nestled in that viper’s nest. I would beg your aid as well, Nikos; people trust your efforts where they mistrust mine and would be quicker to join our united cause if it was, indeed, united. And, Elexa, love, I do hate to ask it as you’ve suffered a great upset tonight, but there are so many here in need of such a talented healer and empath as you—your Spring Gifts would be most appreciated, if you could spare their use.”

Rory nodded resolutely. Nikos grunted. Elexa inclined her head graciously—it was Aurelian who burst away from the wall to cut Melora off once more. Because the anger… It wouldn’t let this go, not now, not when he’d figured out at last who this was before him.

“Wait a moment.”

The room turned to him.

“You know.” He stood incredulous.

Nikos knew her.

Rory knew her.

Elexa seemed to know her too—and none of them had run, had warned him, had done anything to prepare him or Elyas for what, for who, they’d just signed themselves over to. “You know who she is, and you’re helping her?”

Melora…

“You mean we know she’s the Madam, head of the Grim Brotherhood,” Rory hedged. Damn him for that soft tone. For his mannerism. For everything about him that reminded Aurelian of Arlo, a girl who’d been nothing but good to him, to Vehan—

“My boy—”

“I’m not your boy,” Aurelian spat, tensing up on himself, furious now with the way he’d just spoken to Arlo’s very well-meaning and definitely hurting father. And yet he couldn’t help himself. He was afraid—the Madam.

He was so impossibly angry.

The Grim Queen.

The head of the magical community’s most dangerous mafia, and they’d just sworn themselves to one of her tasks….

Rory raised his hands in a show of peace, like Aurelian might spool and flee at any moment.

He couldn’t.

He’d just sworn himself to a woman who was easily as deadly as Riadne, as cruel and scheming and—

“Yes, you will refer to me as Madam,” Melora—the Madam—cut in. Her voice was stern, but it lacked the sharpness it probably should have worn, given who she was. The things she’d been responsible for in her very long lifetime… “And under normal circumstances, I’d be tempted to punish your continuous interruptions, boy, but I’m not without a heart entirely, and you’ve had a difficult night. Rest and food—I’m a gracious host, and the Goblin Market is now your home. Take the day to indulge in both; come tomorrow’s nightfall, should you condescend to side with the only help and protection you’re going to find right now, I’ll expect you back here for a more civilized briefing.”

Aurelian looked around the room, shocked to his core.

The Grim Fucking Queen.

He’d been pushed and pulled around for years, by Riadne, then Lethe, and now… no one but him seemed to realize they’d just jumped out of the lightning storm into the fire. One vicious mistress traded for another….

A hand slipped into his own, small and smooth and warm.

Looking down, he found Elyas beside him, already tugging Aurelian toward the door. “Come on,” Elyas urged gently.

Damn it… Aurelian blinked back the heat that stung his eyes.

Celadon… Arlo… they were too much like each other in their damned big hearts, and Aurelian’s hesitation to make Vehan understand, no matter the cost, what his mother would do… it had broken them.

But here was Elyas, a boy who’d just lost everything, family and home alike, extending Aurelian comfort instead. “You can bunk with me, Aurelian. We can rest together. It’ll be all right, you’ll see.”

There were tears on Elyas’s face as he spoke, and a look as though he was working hard to hold back as many as he could.

It was the least Aurelian could do to follow him into the hall before anyone else could spot them too.






CHAPTER 3 Vehan [image: ]


VEHAN REMAINED KNEELING BEFORE his mother as the room filtered out behind him. Head bent, gaze fixed on the coagulating pool of bluish amethyst that oozed from the neck of Councillor Sylvain’s severed head, he tried very hard to collect himself; to temper the anger burning inside him; to hold on to what little was left of his composure.

What had happened during the Solstice… the sound of Arlo screaming for her mother… the lifeless bodies of the Viridian royal family and their closest allies strung up like grotesque trophies over the battleground of Riadne’s rage…

So much seethed inside Vehan—confusion, guilt, and grief, all of it twisted and writhing around a glowing core of hottest anger.

He’d been unable to even look at Arlo here in the throne room, the shell of a girl who’d done so much to help him, had treated his mother with trust and respect where everyone else hesitated.

And Celadon.

Where the hells did he even begin with Celadon Cornelius Fleur-Viridian, who wasn’t only a Viridian, it seemed. His entire family had been murdered in front of him—horribly, cruelly—but Riadne Lysterne hadn’t left him an orphan, because lo! Surprise! Celadon, as it happened, wasn’t the late Queen Reseda’s son at all but actually the secret love child of Vehan’s own mother and the late High King.

Making Celadon Cornelius Fleur-Viridian-Lysterne his Urielledamned brother.

What the actual fuck was he supposed to do about that?

His brother.

His brother, whom he’d had a romantic crush on for years, because no one had bothered to let Vehan in on this secret, and all his mother had ever done was shake her head at his fanboying.

Celadon was his brother.

Vehan couldn’t actually comprehend that right now. The person kneeling beside him was a complete stranger to him, and every time Vehan’s brain kicked up the unhelpful reminder that he’d had some pretty explicit wet dreams about the—well, he supposed Celadon was still High Prince, good for him—Vehan wanted to be sick all over the floor.

And all of this—all of this—was just a distraction.

Because the thing he struggled the most with right now… what currently ate away at every instinct of self-preservation, balled up like poison in his chest, left him breathless and trembling and immobilized with fear…

Aurelian was gone.

He hadn’t seen his boyfriend all evening, and no one would tell him where he was.

His mother had barely acknowledged Vehan’s existence since this night took its turn from dreamscape to horror, let alone responded to what he’d begged to know. No one would tell him a thing about Aurelian’s fate, and Vehan couldn’t decide if it made him feel better or worse that he hadn’t been able to spot him among the casualties in the ballroom. But his mother would not put him off any longer.

This anger, this fear, this guilt and uselessness that gutted him from the inside out… She was going to tell him, and now—he’d make sure of that.

But first Vehan had to calm himself down. His mother might currently be just as much a stranger to him as Celadon, but he knew who she was on a fundamental level, and who she was wouldn’t yield to him in the slightest if his heart won out over his manners.

A shadow fell over them.

Vehan looked up at last, right into his mother’s face.

Riadne stood even closer now, peering down at both her sons. They both, no doubt, understood what she wanted of them, but it was Celadon who was quicker to rise—not overly eager, but with far more grace than the brittle frost settling into Vehan’s very soul permitted him to move.

They shared a look, mother and long-separated son.

What did Celadon think about all of this? Vehan wondered idly.

How long had he known who Riadne was to him, who Vehan was? Vehan could read just as little on his face as he could his mother’s—their mother’s—and Urielle, but the resemblance between them… now that the extra bit of High King Azurean had been scrubbed away, it was striking just how much Celadon looked like the woman who birthed him.

All the signs… they’d been there the whole time.

Celadon’s poise, his intelligence, his cunning for Court politics and competence when it came to playing their games… UnSeelie faction qualities, they’d all assumed, but no—this was the son Riadne Lysterne could be proud of, a boy after her own design.

Riadne leaned forward, and in response, Celadon and Vehan both stiffened.

Whatever either had been expecting, Vehan was further stunned as, instead of punishment or threat or words at all, Riadne lifted her arms.

And wrapped them around her elder son.

Celadon looked… even less sure of what to do with himself than Vehan did at the moment. He stood in Riadne’s embrace with eyes blown wide, arms limp at his sides. Vehan could count on one hand the number of times in his life his mother had ever hugged him, so he understood the shock of the experience, but Riadne looked far from insulted when she pulled back, Celadon’s shoulders still clutched in her hands.

“My sons… together at last.”

What sort of person was Vehan that after everything she’d done, it still broke his heart a little to imagine how hard it must have been for his mother to watch from a distance as her own child she very much wanted grew up in someone else’s family.

“There is much you wish to say to me, Celadon,” she continued in a voice Vehan didn’t recognize at all for how much genuine feeling had been packed into it. “And much you deserve to hear from me. For what it’s worth, I am sorry. Your father was a great man.”

Celadon merely looked at her.

“Time enough for that conversation later, though,” she then declared in a slightly brighter tone, as though nothing about this entire situation were off. Stepping back, she folded her hands gracefully in front of her, the picture of a regal queen once more. “My son, High Prince and Head of UnSeelie Spring—I’m very proud of you, you know. You’ll do well in this position. And don’t worry, you have me now; I’ll teach you everything you need to know about ruling a Court. My doors will always be open to you. In fact, I expect to see you often for dinner. But first, a show of strength—you must return home and establish your throne. The less time your people have to form conjectures, the easier this whole transition will be.”

That Riadne could stand there talking with a boy whose family she’d just committed alarming violence against with all the ease and amiability of discussing the mild weather was, of everything that had happened so far, perhaps the most obvious sign that his mother wasn’t well.

“And you, Vehan—”

“Where’s Aurelian?” The words came out in a growl, so sudden that they caught even Vehan off guard. He hadn’t meant to reply at all, but she’d startled him by switching her attention to him so quickly, enough to blurt out the question sitting heaviest on his tongue.

So be it.

The damage was already done.

Riadne raised a delicate brow. Celadon’s impertinence might get a pass—she possessed that much compassion, at least. But it was clear she expected much better of Vehan, who hadn’t just lost a father and mother and two out of three of his siblings.

He hadn’t meant to start things off this way, but anger had a will of its own, and damn this entire situation; damn his mother too if she’d done something to the boy he loved.

“What did you do to Aurelian? Answer me,” Vehan demanded, drawing himself taller, looking his mother square in the eye. “You’ve been ignoring me all night, and Aurelian’s been missing since—”

“Oh, for goodness’ sake, you ridiculous child—he’s just a boy! There are countless others in this Court who’d be more than happy to have your attentions, but from the time the two of you met, you’ve been insufferably obsessed with stunning mediocracy. Aurelian is fine! Or he’s dead—by Mab, it shouldn’t matter. All I can tell you is that I had no part in his disappearance, but I assure you, if he’d remained in that ballroom last night, I would have. You can thank Lethe for absconding somewhere with the little fool, I’m sure, but if you think that puts him in any greater safety…” She snorted. “Aurelian has been nothing but a weakness to you from the very—”

“How many times have I told you, when you kept pressing and pressing for me to choose someone else? When you basically tied me to Theodore without my permission. How many more times do I have to say it before you understand? I LOVE HIM—”

CRACK.

Riadne had been so quick that Vehan couldn’t comprehend what had happened until it was done.


OEBPS/e9781665918794/fonts/EBGaramond-BoldItalic.ttf


OEBPS/e9781665918794/fonts/EBGaramond-Regular.ttf


OEBPS/e9781665918794/fonts/ModernAntiqua-Regular.ttf


OEBPS/e9781665918794/fonts/EBGaramond-Bold.ttf


OEBPS/e9781665918794/xhtml/nav.xhtml


Contents



		Cover


		Title Page


		Dedication


		Author’s Note


		Prologue: Alecto


		Chapter 1: Celadon


		Chapter 2: Aurelian


		Chapter 3: Vehan


		Chapter 4: Arlo


		Chapter 5: Nausicaä


		Chapter 6: Arlo


		Chapter 7: Vehan


		Chapter 8: Aurelian


		Chapter 9: Celadon


		Chapter 10: Arlo


		Chapter 11: Nausicaä


		Chapter 12: Vehan


		Chapter 13: Vehan


		Chapter 14: Celadon


		Chapter 15: Celadon


		Chapter 16: Aurelian


		Chapter 17: Arlo


		Chapter 18: Arlo


		Chapter 19: Celadon


		Chapter 20: Nausicaä


		Chapter 21: Vehan


		Chapter 22: Arlo


		Chapter 23: Nausicaä


		Chapter 24: Arlo


		Chapter 25: Aurelian


		Chapter 26: Celadon


		Chapter 27: Aurelian


		Chapter 28: Vehan


		Chapter 29: Arlo


		Chapter 30: Aurelian


		Chapter 31: —


		Chapter 32: Arlo


		Chapter 33: Aurelian


		Chapter 34: Celadon


		Chapter 35: Nausicaä


		Chapter 36: Arlo


		Chapter 37: Celadon


		Chapter 38: Arlo


		Chapter 39: Nausicaä


		Chapter 40: Aurelian


		Chapter 41: Arlo


		Chapter 42: Celadon


		Chapter 43: Vehan


		Chapter 44: Aurelian


		Chapter 45: Arlo


		Chapter 46: Celadon


		Chapter 47: Arlo


		Epilogue: Arlo


		Acknowledgments


		About the Author


		Copyright







Guide



		Cover


		Start of Content


		Title Page


		Dedication


		Author’s Note


		Prologue


		Epilogue


		Acknowledgments


		About the Author


		Copyright








		III


		V


		VI


		VII


		VIII


		IX


		X


		1


		2


		3


		4


		5


		6


		7


		8


		9


		10


		11


		12


		13


		14


		15


		16


		17


		18


		19


		20


		21


		22


		23


		24


		25


		26


		27


		28


		29


		30


		31


		32


		33


		34


		35


		36


		37


		38


		39


		40


		41


		42


		43


		44


		45


		46


		47


		48


		49


		50


		51


		52


		53


		54


		55


		56


		57


		58


		59


		60


		61


		62


		63


		64


		65


		66


		67


		68


		69


		70


		71


		72


		73


		74


		75


		76


		77


		78


		79


		80


		81


		82


		83


		84


		85


		86


		87


		88


		89


		90


		91


		92


		93


		94


		95


		96


		97


		98


		99


		100


		101


		102


		103


		104


		105


		106


		107


		108


		109


		110


		111


		112


		113


		114


		115


		116


		117


		118


		119


		120


		121


		122


		123


		124


		125


		126


		127


		128


		129


		130


		131


		132


		133


		134


		135


		136


		137


		138


		139


		140


		141


		142


		143


		144


		145


		146


		147


		148


		149


		150


		151


		152


		153


		154


		155


		156


		157


		158


		159


		160


		161


		162


		163


		164


		165


		166


		167


		168


		169


		170


		171


		172


		173


		174


		175


		176


		177


		178


		179


		180


		181


		182


		183


		184


		185


		186


		187


		188


		189


		190


		191


		192


		193


		194


		195


		196


		197


		198


		199


		200


		201


		202


		203


		204


		205


		206


		207


		208


		209


		210


		211


		212


		213


		214


		215


		216


		217


		218


		219


		220


		221


		222


		223


		224


		225


		226


		227


		228


		229


		230


		231


		232


		233


		234


		235


		236


		237


		238


		239


		240


		241


		242


		243


		244


		245


		246


		247


		248


		249


		250


		251


		252


		253


		254


		255


		256


		257


		258


		259


		260


		261


		262


		263


		264


		265


		266


		267


		268


		269


		270


		271


		272


		273


		274


		275


		276


		277


		278


		279


		280


		281


		282


		283


		284


		285


		286


		287


		288


		289


		290


		291


		292


		293


		294


		295


		296


		297


		298


		299


		300


		301


		302


		303


		304


		305


		306


		307


		308


		309


		310


		311


		312


		313


		314


		315


		316


		317


		318


		319


		320


		321


		322


		323


		324


		325


		326


		327


		328


		329


		330


		331


		332


		333


		334


		335


		336


		337


		338


		339


		340


		341


		342


		343


		344


		345


		346


		347


		348


		349


		350


		351


		352


		353


		354


		355


		356


		357


		358


		359


		360


		361


		362


		363


		364


		365


		366


		367


		368


		369


		370


		371


		372


		373


		374


		375


		376


		377


		378


		379


		380


		381


		382


		383


		384


		385


		386


		387


		388


		389


		390


		391


		392


		393


		394


		395


		396


		397


		398


		399


		400


		401


		402


		403


		404


		405


		406


		407


		408


		409


		410


		411


		412


		413


		414


		415


		416


		417


		418


		419


		420


		421


		422


		423


		424


		425


		426


		427


		428


		429


		430


		431


		432


		433


		434


		435


		436


		437


		438


		439


		440


		441


		442


		443


		444


		445


		446


		447


		448


		449


		450


		451


		452


		453


		454


		455


		456


		457


		458


		459


		460


		461


		462


		463


		464


		465


		466


		467


		468


		469


		470


		471


		472


		473


		474


		475


		476


		477


		478


		479


		480


		481


		482


		483


		484


		485


		486


		487


		488


		489


		490


		491


		492


		493


		494


		495


		496


		497


		498


		499


		500


		501


		502


		503


		504


		505


		506


		507


		508


		509


		510


		511


		512


		513


		514


		515


		516


		517


		518


		519


		520


		521


		522


		523


		524


		525


		526


		527


		528


		529


		530


		531


		532


		533


		534


		535


		536


		537


		538


		539


		540


		541


		542


		543


		544


		545


		546


		547


		548


		549


		550


		551


		552


		553


		554


		555


		556


		557


		558


		559


		560


		561


		562


		563


		564


		565


		566


		567


		568


		569


		570


		571


		572


		573


		574


		575


		576


		577


		578


		579


		580


		581


		582


		583


		584


		585


		586


		587


		588


		589


		590


		591


		592


		593


		594


		595


		596


		597


		598


		599


		600


		601


		602


		603


		604


		605


		606


		607


		608


		609


		610


		611


		612


		613


		614


		615


		616


		617


		618


		619


		620


		621


		622


		623


		624


		625


		626


		627


		628


		629


		630








OEBPS/e9781665918794/images/common01.jpg





OEBPS/e9781665918794/images/9781665918794.jpg
GR[MA

“*UNKEN\//Q

ASHLEV S/IjUT"FLEWORTH






OEBPS/e9781665918794/images/title.jpg
Book Three in the HOLLOW STAR Saga

(AZIRI N\ AND

SUNKEN\/OW

S S S
ASHLEY SHUTTLEWORTH

Magﬂ ret K. McElderr yB oks

NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN





OEBPS/e9781665918794/fonts/EBGaramond-Italic.ttf


OEBPS/e9781665918794/fonts/JosefinSans-Regular.ttf


